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Characteristics of The Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kon
Limited (the “Exchange”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies
to which a high investment risk may be attached. In particular, companies
may list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability nor any obligation
to forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of
the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM and the business sectors
or countries in which the companies operate. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The
greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market
more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on
the internet website operated by the Exchange. Listed companies are not
generally required to issue paid announcements in gazetted newspapers.
Accordingly, prospective investors should note that they need to have access
to the GEM website in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM-listed
issuers.




Contents

Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Review of Operations

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Income Statement
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Balance Sheet

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes to the Financial Statements

Financial Summary

14

21

23

24

26

27

29

31

74




Corporate Information

Directors

Executive directors
CHENG Kin Kwan

LAW Kwai Lam

LEUNG Mei Sheung Eliza
Zheng Ying Yu

FUNG Chun Pong louis
UAO Yun

Independent non-executive directors
Ng Kwok Tung

TSANG Wai Chun Marianna
CHAN Mei Ying Spencer

LAM Lee G.

Secretary

LAW Kwai Lam

Qualified accountant

LEUNG Wai Sze CPA, FCCA

Compliance officer

LAW Kwai Lam

Audit committee

Ng Kwok Tung
TSANG Wai Chun Marianna
CHAN Mei Ying Spencer

Registered Office

Units T11-113 Tst Floor
Building @ Phase One
Hong Kong Science Park
Tai Po New Territories
Hong Kong

Auditor
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Legal adviser

Deacons
Hammonds

Banker

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Share Registrars

Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong



Chairman’s Statement

REVIEW

OUTLOOK

For Timeless, the year ended 31 March 2008 marked our twelfth year in business. The past year was a
special one for us, since it was the year we complefed the development of Timeless Consolidated Platform
("TCP"), and steered towards the market. Under the “prudent yet aggressive” guidance and by appropriately
maneuvering our three resources, that is: one stock code (8028), one platform (the TCP) and one services
(web services), our business progressed on sfeadily.

After the completion of the TCP, we subsequently launched our fen services sub-platforms which earned
recognition and support from various famous software resellers, telecom services providers and government
agencies, inside and out of China. The indusiry spectrum served by these sub-platforms were wide-spread,
spanning from fourism, educational services, multi-media and entertainment services, elderly services,
medical services, telecom volue-added services, aero-space mathematical services to cross network
information management services. The uniqueness and value of these service sub-platforms lies in their
ability to extend, both horizontally and vertically; fo put it in another way, it possesses cross-platform, cross-
network and cross-services capabilities and may be even extended down to customization fo the specific
environment and requirements for a particular indusiry or customer. From what we observe, such capability,
backed by years of development effort, cannot be easily matched by most system integrafor at present.
Thus, we firmly believe, our business, especially parinered with those inside China, shall turn a new leaf
and bring in revenue for us confinuously.

For the coming year, we shall actively pursue to ally with other potential partners, to further explore the
Greater China Market and to creafe multiwin situation. By such doing, we can shoot for best refumn and at
the same time, aim for maximum benefit for our shareholders and alliancees.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Kin Kwan
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 June 2008
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Review of Operations

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

The directors continued fo take a conservative approach for accounting purposes and a sfringent view on
recognising revenue was sill being adopted especially for contracts of relatively longer ferm in nature in
Mainland China. For the year ended 31 March 2008, the loss atfributable to equity holders of the
Company was approximately HK$ 17,801,000 representing an increase of 20.9% as compared to the
loss of approximately HK$ 14,724,000 for the year ended 31 March 2007. The Group recorded audited
turnover of approximately HK$2,920,000, representing an increase of 9.9% as compared to approximately
HK$2,657,000 in last year. The other income mainly comprised bank inferest income of approximately
HK$ 1,591,000 (2007: HK$3,095,000).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group financed its operations and investing acfivities primarily with infernally generated cash flow.

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had bank balances and cash (excluding pledged bank deposits) of
approximately HK$89,412,000 (2007: HK$56,848,000).

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had total outstanding borrowings of approximately HK$ 1,578,000
(2007: HK$1,332,000). The borrowings comprised a bank loan of approximately HK$ 1,276,000
(2007: HK$1,281,000), which is repayable by monthly installment and will be fully repaid on 15 March
2015, obligations under a finance lease of approximately HK$ 186,000 (2007: HK$51,000), which
will be fully repaid on 30 September 2012, and a bank overdraft of HK$ 116,000 (2007: Nil).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2008, the Group's gearing ratio was approximately 1.23% (2007: 0.98%), based on
total borrowings of approximately HK$ 1,578,000 (2007: HK$1,332,000) and equity attributable to
equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$ 128,351,000 (2007: HK$136,319,000).

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2008, a commercial property with a carrying value of approximately HK$2,314,000
(2007: HK$2,226,000) situated in Guangzhou held by a PRC subsidiary was pledged to a bank to
secure the loan of approximately HK$ 1,276,000 (2007: HK$1,281,000).

Bank deposits totalling of approximately HK$ 11,153,000 (2007: HK$10,500,000) were pledged to
banks to secure the banking facilities, in which, credit facilities of HK$5,000,000 (2007: HK$5,000,000)
were available to the Company's subsidiaries and loan facility of RMB4,900,000 (2007: RMB4,900,000)

were available fo a jointly contfrolled entity.

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LTD.




Review of Operations (Coniinued)

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2008, the Company’s total number of issued shares was 1,133,261,503 (2007
1,053,851,503]. During the year, certain directors and employees of the Group exercised share options
granted fo them under the 2003 share option scheme and 79,410,000 shares of the Company were
issued and allotted thereof.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

In respect of geographical segments, tumover generated from Hong Kong and Mainland China accounted

for 58.9% (2007: 60.5%) and 41.1% (2007 39.5%) respectively during the year.

ORDER BOOK AND PROSPECTS FOR NEW BUSINESS

The amount of orders on hand of the Group was over HK$3,570,000 as at 31 March 2008.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There was no material disposal or acquisition of subsidiaries and affiliated companies for the year under
review.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group does not have any plan for material investments in the near future.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RISKS

Since the Group's borrowings and ifs source of income are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars
or Renminbi and the exchange rafe of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars has been relatively stable throughout
the year under review, the exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.




Review of Operations (Continued)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantee given

As at 31 March 2008, the Group has given guarantee of RMB4,900,000 (2007: RMB4,900,000) to
a bank fo secure the credit facilities granted to a jointly controlled entity. At 31 March 2008, the amount
of facilities utilised was RMB4,900,000 (2007: RMB4,900,000).

As at 31 March 2008, the Company has given corporate guarantees of HK$5,000,000 (2007:
HK$5,000,000) fo cerfain banks to secure the credit facilities granted to its subsidiaries. No subsidiaries
has utilised the credit facilities as at 31 March 2008.

Pending litigation

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Company initiated legal proceedings against a third party
(the “landlord”) in respect of an alleged breach of the tenancy agreement in failing to refund the deposit
of HK$1,790,000. Concurrently, the Landlord resisted the claim and counterclaimed against the Company
on, including but not limited to, reinstatement work and rental losses. The Company, having taken info
consideration the underlying factors including advice obtained, did not see any grounds for withholding
the deposit and, accordingly, the directors of the Company took the view that no contingency arises for
which a provision is required to be made nor no allowance is required to be made to the deposit included

in the financial statements as at 31 March 2008 and 2007 .

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2008, the Group employed a fotal staff of 39. Staff remuneration is reviewed by the
Group from fime fo fime and increases are granted normally annually or by special adjustment depending
on length of service and performance when warranfed. In addition to salaries, the Group provides staff
benefits including medical insurance and provident fund. Share options and bonuses are also available to
employees of the Group at the discrefion of the directors and depending upon the financial performance
of the Group.

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LTD.




Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Executive directors

Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan, aged 69, is the founder and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. Prior to establishing the Company, Mr. Cheng has been serving the [T industry for over 30
years. He was the inventor who developed the first Chinese processing system and brought into China the
first generation of image processing PC, the first dealer of Novell system in Hong Kong and China, and
also, the developer of the first computer system for Hong Kong Futures Exchange. He took up various
senior positions in software development companies and provided services as technical consultant for
multinational vendors.

Mr. Law Kwai Lam, aged 61, is the Corporate Affairs Director and the Company Secretary of the
Company. Mr. Law has been with the Group since its establishment, and has since been responsible for
the Company’s and the Group's administrative, legal and secretarial matters. Mr. Law holds o Bachelor
degree in Biochemisiry from the University of Kansas. Prior fo joining the Group, M. Law was the Company
Secrefary of a listed company in Hong Kong for 10 years.

M:s. Leung Mei Sheung, Eliza, aged 43, is the Adminisiration Director of the Group and is responsible
for the overall administrative management of the Group and special assignments by the CEO. Ms. Lleung
joined the Group in June 1996. She has over 22 years of experience in office administration and accounting

in the IT field.

Ms. Zheng Ying Yu, aged 34, is the Chief Representative of the Group's Guangzhou subsidiary,
responsible for market promotion, business development and the overall operation of the Guangzhou
office. She joined the Group in 1998 and has twelve years experience in the T indusiry. Ms Zheng holds
a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Science from ZhongShan University.

Mr. Fung Chun Pong, Louis, aged 55, is the Head of Operations, Hong Kong and is responsible for
the overall operations of the Hong Kong region. Mr. Fung joined the Group in October 1998. He has
over 30 years of experience in the IT industry and specialises in financial systems.

Mr. Liao Yun, aged 35, is the Head of DevelopmentGuangzhou, responsible for planning and executing
project development and Timeless Consolidated Platform development. Mr. lico holds a Bachelor's Degree
in Computer Software from South China University of Technology. He joined the Group in July 1998 and
has over 12 years experience in the IT industry.

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LTD.




Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued|

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Kwok Tung, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive director in 2003. Mr.
Ng is a practising accounfant. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree and a Licentiate in Accountancy
from McGill University, Canada and a Diploma in Chinese Law from the University of East Asia, Macau.
Mr. Ng is a member of the Hong Kong Insfitute of Certified Public Accountants, the Insfitute of Chartered
Accountants of British Columbia, the Order of Charfered Accountants of Quebec, the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Ms. Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna, aged 53, is the direcfor of Chan & Wat, Certified Public
Accountants. She is a member of the Institute of Chartered Secrefaries and Administrators, the Hong Kong
Institute of Company Secrefaries and the Association of Professionals in Business Management. Ms. Tsang
has over 20 years of company secrefarial, corporate affairs, and related legal working experience in
major commercial corporations and in professional firms. She has an MBA and a postgraduate certificate
in Advanced Taxation. She was appointed as an independent non-executive director in October 2003.

Mr. Chan Mei Ying, Spencer, aged 52, is a direcfor of Ubique Solufions Lid. Mr. Chan has all round
experience in corporate finance, business development, sales and marketing. Mr. Chan studied Computer
Science in Melbourne, Australia, before receiving a Master's Degree in Business Administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He also has affended an executive management program at INSEAD,
Fontainbleau, France.

Dr. Lam Lee G., oged 48, was appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company on
15 February 2008. Dr. Lam holds a Bachelor of Science in Mathematics and Sciences, a Master of
Science in Systems Science, and a Master of Business Administration, all from the University of Ottawa in
Canada, a Postgraduate Diploma in Public Administration from Carlefon University in Canada, a Post-
graduate Diploma in English and Hong Kong Llaw and a Bachelor of Law [Hons) from Manchester
Metropolitan University in the UK, and a Doctor of Philosophy from the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Lam
has over 25 years of infernational experience as a CEO, company director and invesiment banker in the
telecommunications, media and technology (TMT), retail, property and financial services sectors. He is
Chairman of Monte Jade Science and Technology Association of Hong Kong, and serves as an independent
or non-executive director of several publiclylisted companies in the Asia Pacific region. He is a Member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, a Member of the Young Presidents’ Organization, a Fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a Member of its Corporate Governance Policies Committee, a
Member of the General Council and the Corporate Governance Committee of the Chamber of Hong
Kong Listed Companies, and a Parttime Member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Adminisirative Region.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kan Ji Ran, Laurie, aged 47, is the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He is a veteran
in the Asian [T indusfry. Mr. Kan has held senior positions at PointCast Asia, China Internet Corporation
(now Chinadotcom), Microsoft {Hong Kong) Limited and Compagq. He graduated in Business Management
from Hong Kong Baptist College and from Stanford University's Executive Program.
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Corporate Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

The Company sfrives fo attain and mainfain the highest standard of corporate governance as it believes
that effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and
safeguarding shareholder interests.

The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Group emphasize a quality board, sound internal
control, and transparency and accountability fo all shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the "Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. Unless otherwise disclosed herein, the
Company has complied with the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2008.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the securities transactions by directors on terms
no less exacting than the required standard of dealings sef out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, all directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors

adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31 March 2008.

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LTD.




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

THE BOARD

10

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives of the Company and overseeing the
management of the business. The directors are charged with the task of promoting the success of the
Company and making decisions in the best interest of the Company.

The Board led by the Chairman, Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan, approves and monitors group wide strategies and
policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance of the Company, and supervises
the management. Management is responsible for the day4o-day operations of the Group under the leadership
of the Chairman.

As at 31 March 2008, the Board comprised ten directors, including the Chairman, five executive directors
and four independent non-executive directors. Biographical details of the directors are set out in the
“Biographical Defails of Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 7 1o 8.

The Board held 8 meetfings during the year ended 31 March 2008 with an average attendance rafe of

approximately 98%.

Attendance
Executive directors
Cheng Kin Kwan (Chairman) 8/8
law Kwai Llam 8/8
leung Mei Sheung Eliza 8/8
Zheng Ying Yu 6/8
Fung Chun Pong Louis 8/8
Lico Yun 8/8
Independent non-executive directors
Ng Kwok Tung 8/8
Tsang Wai Chun Marianna 8/8
Chan Mei Ying Spencer 8/8
lam Llee G. (appointed on 15 February 2008) 1/1

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations of independence were received from each of the
Company’s independent non-executive direcfors pursuant fo rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and dll
independent non-executive directors are considered fo be independent.

The Company's Articles of Association have been amended to provide that all directors appointed fo fill
casual vacancy shall be subject fo election by shareholders at the first general meefing after their appointment
and every director, including those appointed for a specific ferm, shall be subject fo retirement by rotafion
at least once every three years.

Each of the executive directors has entered into service contract with the Company when they are appointed
as directors of the Company. These service confracts will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving fo the other party not less than three months' nofice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has any service confract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not deferminable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than the sftatutory compensation.

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LID,



Corporate Governance Report (Continved)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company does not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan
currently holds both positions.

Given the Group's current sfage of development, the Board considers that vesting the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer in the same person facilitates the execution of the Group's business strategies
and maximizes effectiveness of its operation. The Board shall nevertheless review the structure from fime to
time and shall consider the appropriate move to take should suitable circumstance arise.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive directors was appointed for a term of one year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

A remuneration commitiee was set up in March 2006. The primary aim of the Remuneration Committee is
fo formulate transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and compensation packages for
the employees of the Group. The Remuneration Committee comprises four members, the majority of whom
are independent non-executive directors. They are:

Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Ng Kwok Tung,

Ms. Tsang Wai Chun Marianna and

Mr. Chan Mei Ying Spencer.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the performance of some of the directors for the year based on
their performances. The emoluments of each of the directors are set out in this annual report on page 53.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has esfablished a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) in March 2006 in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, terms of reference of which have been adopted by the Company
are consistent with the requirements of the Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors and one executive director, namely, Mr. Ng Kwok Tung, Ms. Tsang
Wai Chun Marianna, Mr. Chan Mei Ying Spencer and Mr. Fung Chun Pong Louis.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year or as needed where vacancies arise at the Board.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the fee payable to the auditor in respect of the audit, non-audit and
fax and consultancy services were as follows:

Types of services Amount (HKS$)
Audit services 829,000
Tax and consultancy services 414,000

11




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors, Mr. Ng Kwok Tung, Ms. Tsang
Wai Chun Marianna and Mr. Chan Mei Ying Spencer. During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Audit
Committee held 4 meefings with 100% attendance.

Name of members Attendance
Tsang Wai Chun Marianna (Chairman) 4/4
Ng Kwok Tung 4/4
Chan Mei Ying Spencer 4/4

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and
infernal control system of the Group. The Audit Commitiee has reviewed the annual report for the year
ended 31 March 2008 in conjunction with the Company’s external auditors.

Under the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the committee is required, amongst other things, fo
oversee the relationship with the external auditors, review the Group's preliminary results, inferim results
and annual financial statements, monitor compliance with statutory and GEM Listing Rules requirements,
review the scope, extent and effectiveness of the acfivities of the Group's infemnal confrol, engage independent
legal or other advisers as it determines is necessary and perform investigations.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12

The following statements, which sef out the responsibilities of the directors in relation to the financial
statements, should be read in conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent Audifors’ Report on
pages 21 to 22 which acknowledges the reporting responsibilities of the Group's auditors.

The directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give
a true and fair view. In preparing the financial statements which give a frue and fair view, the directors
consider that the Group uses appropriate accounting policies that are consistently applied, makes judgments
and esfimates that are reasonable and prudent, and that all applicable accounting standards are followed.
The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting records which disclose the
financial position of the Group and enable the preparation of financial statfements in accordance with
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The directors are responsible for taking all
reasonable and necessary steps fo safeguard the assets of the Group and fo prevent and defect fraud and
other irregularities. Having made appropriate enquiries, the directors consider that the Group has adequate
resources fo continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is
appropriate to adopt the going concem basis in preparing the financial statements.

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LTD.



Corporate Governance Report (Continved)

REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Audit Committee assisfs the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an effective system of
infernal control. It reviews the process by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk
assessment process, and the way in which business and confrol risks are managed.

The Board recognises ifs responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of infernal control and prompt
and transparent reporting of the Company's acfivities fo the shareholders and fo the public.

The internal control system is designed to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, safeguard
assets against unauthorised use and disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records
and the fruth and faimess of the financial statements, and ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations. It aims fo achieve reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss in the management
of the Group's business activities.

13
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company and is engaged in the provision of computer
consultancy and software maintenance services, software development and sales of computer hardware
and software.

The principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income stafement on page 23.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year are sef out in note 26 to the
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out on pages
27 1o 28 and nofe 28 fo the financial statements, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company during the year
are sef out in note 13 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATE AND PRINCIPAL JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

The principal activities of the Group's principal associate and principal jointly controlled entity are set out
in notes 15 and 16 fo the financial statements, respectively.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The directfors of the Company during the year and up fo the date of this report were:
Executive directors:

Cheng Kin Kwan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Llaw Kwai Lam

leung Mei Sheung, Eliza

Zheng Ying Yu

Fung Chun Pong, Louis

Liao Yun

Chung Yiu Fai (resigned on 28 January 2008)

14




Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

Independent non-executive directors:

Ng Kwok Tung

Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna

Chan Mei Ying, Spencer

lam lee G. (appointed on 15 February 2008)

In accordance with Article Q6[A) and Article 105(A) of the Company’s Arficles of Association, Mr. Cheng
Kin Kwan, Mr. Liao Yun, Mr. Chan Mei Ying, Spencer and Dr. Lam Lee G. refire and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.

Each of the executive directors has enfered into a service contract with the Company when he or she is
appointed as a director of the Company. These service contracts will continue thereafter until terminated by
either party giving to the other party not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive directors was appointed for a term of one year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors proposed for re-election af the forthcoming annual general
meefing has any service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not deferminable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than sfatutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 March 2008, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief executive of the
Company and their associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant fo Section 352
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO"), or otherwise nofified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market (the "GEM") of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing
Rules”), were as follows:

Long positions

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each of the Company

Number of ordinary shares held in the capacity of

Total

Beneficial Controlled number Percentage of
Name of director owner corporation of shares shareholding
Cheng Kin Kwan 219,522,000 — 219,522,000 19.37%
Law Kwai Llam 10,000,000 28,325,000 38,325,000 3.38%
leung Mei Sheung, Eliza 13,000,000 — 13,000,000 1.15%
Zheng Ying Yu 4,900,000 — 4,900,000 0.43%
Fung Chun Pong, Louis 1,488,000 — 1,488,000 0.13%
Liao Yun 4,510,000 — 4,510,000 0.40%
Ng Kwok Tung 1,000,000 — 1,000,000 0.09%

*  These shares were held by a private company which is wholly-owned by Mr. Low Kwai Lam.

15




Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (confinued)

Long positions (continued)

(b) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company

Particulars of the directors’ interests in share options to subscribe for shares in the Company pursuant
fo the Company’s 2003 share option scheme were as follows:

Number of share options and number of underlying shares

Exerdse Ouistnding  Granted  Exerdsed  Forfeited OQutstanding

Date price at during during during ot
Nome of directors of grant  Exercisable period ~ pershare  14.2007  theyear  theyear  theyear  31.3.2008
HK

ChengKinkwen —~ 59.2003  59.2003-49.2013 0.2280 6,960,000 - - = 6,960,000
8122003 8.12.2003-7.12.2013 0.2130 800,000 - - - 800,000

252004 BIN0-2420014 000 7700000 - - — 7700000

Low K Lom 592003 59.2003-49.2013 02280 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
012004 91.2004-8.1.2014 0.1900 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

2822005 28.2.2005-27.2.201 00722 1,000,000 - - — 1,000,000

2692006 2692006-259016 00772 3,500,000 - - - 3500000

8O 1862071762077 02980 — 800 - — 3000

loong Mei Sheng, 592003 5.9.2003-49.2013 0.2280 3,500,000 - - = 5,300,000
Elizo 8122003 8.12.2003-7.12.2013 02130 4300000 - - — 4,300,000
2522004 25.2.2004-242.2014 0.1900 5,800,000 - - — 5,800,000

13122004 13122004-12122014 00982 3430000 = (3430000, - -

2822005 28.2.2005-27.2.201 00722 1,500,000 = {1,500,0001 - -

292005 229.2005-21.9.2015 00920 400,000 —[400,000] - -

2432006 243.2000-23.3.2010 0.1530 300,000 - - = 300,000

2692006 269.2000-25.9.2010 00772 9,500,000 — (9,500,001 - -

Theng Ying Yo 592003 59.2003-49.2013 0.2280 2,000,000 - - — 2,000,000
8122003 8.12.2003-7.12.2013 02130 400,000 - - — 400,000

012004 91.2004-8.1.2014 0.1900 7,000,000 — {900,000, = 6,100,000

13122004 13.122004-12122014 00982 500,000 = |450,0001 - 50,000

2822005 28.2.2005-27.2.201 00722 630,000 = (650,000 - -

292005 229.2005-21.9.2013 0.0920 400,000 — [400,000] - -

2432006 2432000-23.3.2010 0.1530 300,000 — (300,000 - -

2092006 269.2000-25.9.2010 00772 1,000,000 = 11,000,000 - -
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Long positions (continued)

(b) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company (continued)

Number of share options and number of underlying shares

Exerdse Ouistonding  Granted  Exercised  Forfeited  Outstanding

Date price at during during during at
Name of directors of grant  Exercisable period ~ pershare 142007  theyear  theyear  theyear  31.3.2008
HK§

FingChnPong, 592003 5.9.2003-49.2013 02280 2,000,000 - - — 2000000
louis 012004 9.1.2004-81.2014 0.1900 7,000,000 - - — 1,000,000
1942004 19.42004-184.2014 0.2096 300,000 - - - 300,000

3092004 3092004-2992014 00900 300,000 — (300,000 - -

13122004 13.122004-12.12.2014 00982 300,000 = {300,000, - -

292005 229.2005-21.9.2013 00920 400,000 —  [400,0001 - -

432006 2432006-2332016 01530 300,000 - - - 300,000

1906 BOXSBIMS 0T 1000 — (0000 - -

8207 IB82007-1762017 02980 — 0 - — 0

lioo Yon 592003 59.2003-49.2013 02280 800,000 - - - 800,000
26112003 26.11.2003-25.11.2013  0.2300 400,000 - - — 400000

912004 9.1.2004-81.2014 0.1900 790,000 - - - 790,000

1942004 19.42004-184.2014 0.2096 300,000 - - - 300,000

1692004 169.2004-159.2014 0.0870 500,000 - - — 500,000

3092004 30.9.2004-299.2014 0.0900 300,000 - - - 500,000

13122004 13.122004-12122014  0.0982 300,000 - - - 300,000

2822005 28.2.2005-27.2.2013 00722 1000000 —{1,000,0001 - -

2292005 229.2005-219.2018 0.0920 400,000 - - - 400,000

2432006 24.3.2000-23.3.2016 0.1530 300,000 - - - 300,000

2692006 269.2000-25.9.2016 00772 2,000,000 — (2,000,000 - -

Chung Yiu i 592003 59.2003-49.2013 02280 5,500,000 - (3,500,000 -
Jiesigned on 8122008 8.12.2003-7.122013 02130 400,000 - — |400,000] -
28 Jonoory 2008 2522004  25.2.2004-24.2.2014 0.1900 6,450,000 - — (6,450,000 -
1692004 169.2004-159.2014 00870 2.300,000 — (2,300,000 - -

13122004 13.122004-12.12.2014 00982 300,000 = {300,000/ - -

2822005 28.2.2005-27.2.2015 00722 3,000,000 = {3,000,0001 - -

292005 229.2005-21.9.2015 00920 2400000 — (2,400,000 - -

2432006 24.3.2000-23.3.2016 0.1530 300,000 - — (300,000 -

2692006 269.2000-25.9.2016 00772 9,500,000 —{3,500,0001 - -
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (confinued)
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Long positions (continued)

(b) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company (confinued)

Number of share options and number of underlying shares

Exerdse Ouistnding  Granted  Exerdsed  Forfeited OQutstanding

Date price at during during during at
Name of directors of grant ~ Exercisable period ~ pershare 142007  theyear  theyear  theyear  31,3.2008
HK

Ng Kwok Tung 432006 2432006-2332016 01530 500,000 - - - 500000
2092006 26.9.2006-259.2016 0.0772 3,000,000 - - — 3,000,000

TongWei Chn, 2432006 24.3.2006-233.201 0.1530 300,000 - - = 300,000
Marionno 2692006 269.2000-25.9.2010 00772 3,000,000 - - — 3,000,000
Chan Mei Ying, 2432006 24.3.2006-233.2016 0.1530 300,000 - - = 300,000

Spencer 2692000 269.2000-259.2016 00772 3,000,000 (3,000,000] - -

119480000 1,100,000 [44,030,000) (12,630,000 63,900,000

Save as disclosed above and other than nominee shares in cerfain wholly-owned subsidiaries held by
certain directors in frust for the Group, at 31 March 2008, none of the directors or chief executive or any
of their respective associates had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations which fall to be nofified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant fo Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, 1o
be enfered in the register referred to therein or which were required fo be nofified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.



Directors’ Report (Continued)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2008, according to the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO, the following persons [not being a director or chief executive of the Company) were, directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital of the Company.

Number of Percentage of

Number share options the issued share

Name of substantial of ordinary  and underlying Aggregate capital as at

shareholder shares held shares held long position 31 March 2008
Educational Information Technology (HK|

Company Limited * 108,057,374 - 108,057,374 9.54%

Crimson Asia Capital Limited, LP.** 105,203,591 — 105,203,591 0.28%

*  These shares were held in trust for 2 B #( & {5 2 £ 7 i 15 & BR 22 & (Ningxia Educational Information &
Technology Co., ltd.), a company in which the Group has 25% equity inferest.

**  These shares were beneficially owned.

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and chief executive’s inferests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares of the Company”, at 31 March 2008, the Company had not been nofified of any other
inferests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 28 April 2003 are set out in note 271(b] to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or af any time during the year.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received written confirmation from each of ifs independent non-executive directors in
respect of their independence during the year and all independent non-executive directors are still being
considered to be independent.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales atiributable to the Group's five largest customers comprised approximately
53% of the Group's fotal sales while the sales aftributable to the Group's largest customer was approximately
23% of the Group’s fotal sales.

The aggregate purchases during the year aftributable to the Group's five largest suppliers comprised
approximately 91% of the Group's total purchases while the purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier was approximately 52% of the Group’s fotal purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, their associates or any shareholder, which fo the knowledge
of the directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in the share
capifal of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the remuneration commitiee, having
regard fo the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible employees,
details of the share option scheme are set out in nofe 27 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance policies adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages @ to 13.

COMPETING INTEREST

AUDITOR
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As at 31 March 2008, none of the direcfors or the management shareholders (as defined in the GEM
listing Rules) of the Company or their respective associates had any inferest in a business which competes
or may compete with the business of the Group.

A resolution will be submitted fo the annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Kin Kwan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 June 2008



Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.
=E)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIMELESS SOFTWARE LIMITED
ARBEHAERLF
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Timeless Software Limited (the “Company”] and ifs subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 23 to 73, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet and
the Company’s balance sheet as af 31 March 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated stafement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the frue and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and mainfaining infernal control relevant to the preparation and the frue and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
stafements that are free from material misstatement, whether due fo fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility fowards or accept liability to any other person for the confents of this
report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Insfitute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit fo obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s infernal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a frue and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as af 31 March 2008 and of the Group's loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
25 June 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

Turnover

Other income

Staff cosfs

Depreciation

Other expenses

Fair value changes on investment properties

Net gains on equitylinked notes

Net losses on investments held for trading

Net (losses) gains on availablefor-sale financial assets

Impairment loss recognised on investments in
a jointly controlled entity

Impairment loss recognised on advance made to
a jointly controlled entity

Discount on acquisition arising from purchase of
additional interests in a subsidiary

Finance costs

Share of losses of associates

loss for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority inferests

loss per share
— Basic

- Diluted

NOTES 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000

6 2,920 2,657
1,960 4,134
(12,453) (15,209)
(1,346) (1,865)

(6,989) (2,480

711 167

643 3,735

(267) —

(46) 1,406

(1,058) —

— (1,226)

69 745

7 (158) (77)
(2,746) (520)

8 (18,760) (15,533)
(17,801) (14,724)

(959) (809)

(18,760) (15,533)

HK cents HK cents

11

(1.60) (1.47)

N/A N/A
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 31 March 2008

Non-current assefs
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Inferests in associates
Interests in jointly confrolled entities
Equitylinked notes

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Equitylinked notes
Availableforsale financial assets
Investments held for trading
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Obligations under a finance lease
due within one year
Financial guarantee obligations
Current portion of secured longerm bank loan
Bank overdraft

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Obligations under a finance lease

due affer one year
Secured longterm bank loan

Net assets

24 TIMELESS SOFTWARE LTD.

NOTES

N O w N

22

23
31
25

23
25

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
6,244 2,100
4,524 6,632
3,323 5,852
5,698 51,483
19,789 66,067
5,308 8,290
11,492 —
—_ 4,290

1,543 —
11,153 10,500
89,412 56,848
118,908 79,928
5,154 5,096
36 51
11058 -
157 133

116 —
6,521 5,280
112,387 74,648
132,176 140,715
150 —
1,119 1,148
1,269 1,148
130,907 139,567




Consolidated Balance Sheet (Coniinued)
At 31 March 2008

NOTES 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000

Capital and reserves
Share capital 26 56,663 52,693
Reserves 71,688 83,626
Equity affributable to equity holders of the Company 128,351 136,319
Minority inferests 2,556 3,248
Tofal equity 130,907 139,567

The financial stafements on pages 23 to 73 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Direcfors on 25 June 2008 and are signed on ifs behalf by:

Cheng Kin Kwan Law Kwai Lam
Chairman and Director
Chief Executive Officer
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Balance Sheet
At 31 March 2008

Non-current assefs
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Inferests in associates
Interests in jointly confrolled entities
Equitylinked notes

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Equitylinked notes
Availableforsale financial assets
Investments held for trading
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Obligations under a finance lease
due within one year
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Bank overdraft

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Obligations under a finance lease
due affer one year

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Tofal equity

Cheng Kin Kwan
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

26 TIMELESS SOFTWARE LTD.

NOTES 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000

13 1,089 1,478
14 8,000 8,000
15 3,323 5,852
16 —_ —
17 5,698 51,483
18,110 06,813

18 3,288 /7,005
17 11,492 —
19 - 4,290
20 1,543 —
21 5,153 5,000
21 88,394 53,297
109,870 09,592

22 2,333 2,166
23 36 51
24 35,126 35,955
116 —

37,611 38,172

72,259 31,420

90,369 98,233

23 150 —
90,219 98,233

26 56,663 52,693
28 33,556 45,540
90,219 98,233

Law Kwai Lam
Director



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

Attributable
Share  Investment  Property fo equity
Share Share  options revaluation revaluation Translation Accumulated  holders of  Minority
copital ~ premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  defict the Company interests Total

HKS000  HKE000  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKEO00  HKYOOD  HKFOOO HKEO00  HKSOOD  HKFO00

A1 Aorl 2006 1974 631122 1770 1183 - 120 (540804 146,101 6765 152866

Exchonge diferences arsing from

findlfon offnonciol sioemeris

o overseas operafons ecognised

diectyin equiy - - - - - 734 - 734 PN 969
Foir value chonge n

avalobleforsole inonca

assels - - - (978 - - - (578 - 578
Shore of posracapisfon
reserve of associotes - - - [752) - - - 752 - 752

Nt fexpenses|income
recogrised diecly n equly - - - (1,330 - 734 - 5% 25 31
Loss for the yeer - - - - - - (14724)  (14724) (809 (15,933

Totol ecognised income ond
xpensss for e year - - - (1,330} - 7

S

4 (474] [15300] (74) (15894

lsue of shores 1,119 656 - - - - - 1775 - 1775
Expenses ncured n comecfon
vith he ssue of shores

1y

(i - (11}
Acapision of adiional reress
ina subsidiory - - - - - - - - (2043 (2043

Tonser ofshare pions esene

on exercie ofshor apiins - 751 [751] - - - - - - -
Recogriion of equiysetled

shorerbased paymeris - - 3774 - - - - 3774 - 3774

1,119 1,39 3003 - - - - 5538 2043 2599

A 31 March 2007 52603 632518 479 [147] - 1990 [555,528) 136319 38 139567
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Confinued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

Bxchonge difirences arsing from

fondlaion of fioncial sofements
of overseas operafons ecognised

diecty in equiy
Icreose in for vole of lond
and buldings upon fndler
fo invesiment propeties
Shore f postacquision
feseie of asocies

Net [expenses] income recogm’sed
diecty in equiy

Lossfor the year

Transfe fo profforlss on
sale of avalobleforsale
financiol ossel

Totolrecogrised income and
expenses for e year

lsue of shores

Expenses incured n comnecon
wilh the s of hores

Rcauision of addifonal rerest
ina subsidory

Tronster ofshre opiions resene
on evercise of shore opfions

Tronster ofshre opiions resene
onfoeiwe ofshare opfons

Recogrifon of equysefled
shorerbosed paymeris

At 31 March 2008

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LID.

Attributable
Share  Investment  Property 1o equity

Share Share  options revaluation revaluation Tramslation Accumulated  holders of  Minority

capitel  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  deficit the Company interests Total

P00 HKPO00  HKFO0D  HKFO00  HKPOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKFOO0  HKSO00  HKS000
- - - - - 1711 - 1711 336 2047
- - - - 1,001 - - 1,061 - 1,061
_ _ _ 826 - - - (826 | - 826
- - - (626 | 1,001 1711 - 1,946 336 226
- - - - - - (I7801] (7801 ©39)  (18760]
- - - 578 - - - 578 - 578
- - - (248 | 1,061 1711 (17801} (15277] 23] (15900]

3970 2675 - - - - - 0,64 - 6,645
- b - - - |
- - - - - - - - w0
— 0w s - - - - _ _ _
- — %) - - - 1% - - -
- - 725 - - - - 725 - 723

3970 3409 (2226 - - - 136 7,309 169 7.0

56663 637977 2567 (305 1,061 S0 (73173 128,391 256 130907




Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

Operating activities
loss for the year
Adjustments for:

Inferest income

Inferest expense

Share of losses of associates

Depreciation

Loss (gain] on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Fair value changes on investment properties

Net gains on equity-linked notes

Net losses (gains) on availablefor-sale financial assets

Net losses on investments held for frading

Impairment loss recognised on advance made fo
a jointly controlled entity

Discount on acquisition arising from purchase of
additional interests in a subsidiary

Impairment for accrued revenue

Impairment loss recognised on investments in
a jointly controlled entity

Share-based payments

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables
Increase in investments held for trading

Decrease in accounts payable

Net cash used in operating acfivities

Investing activities
Proceeds from redemption of equity-linked notes
Interest received from equity-linked notes
Proceeds from disposal of availableforsale financial assefs
Bank inferest received
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of equity-linked notes
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of availableforsale financial assets
Purchase of additional inferests in a subsidiary
Purchase of investment properties
Purchase of an associate

Net cash from [used in) investing activities

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000

(18,760) (15,533)

(1,591) (3,095)

158 77

2,746 520

1,346 1,865

9 (10)

(711) (167)

(643) (3,735)

46 (1,400)

267 —

— 1,226

(69) (745)

— 348

1,058 —

725 3,774

(15,419) (16,881

2,759 (3,769)

(1,810) —

(229) 217)

(14,699) (20,867

221,140 113,916

13,936 5,436

4,822 41,008

1,515 3,058

27 35

(200,140) (167,100

(635) (4,100)

— (44,470)

— (2,198)

— (1,933

— 431)

40,665 (56,779)
29
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Confinued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

30

Financing activities
New bank loans raised
Proceeds from issue of shares
Repayment of bank loans
Interest paid
Repayment of obligations under a finance lease
Expenses incurred in connection with the issue of shares

Net cash from financing acfivities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash
Bank overdraft

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LID,

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
73,526 —
6,645 1,775
(73,675) (127)
(158) 77)
(69) 49)
(61) (1)
6,208 1,511
32,174 (76,135)
56,848 132,461
274 522
89,296 56,848
89,412 56,848
(116) —
89,296 56,848




Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

2.

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and ifs shares are listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). It acts as
an investment holding company and is engaged in the provision of computer consultancy and software
mainfenance services, software development and sales of computer hardware and software. The address
of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new standard, amendment and
inerpretations (collectively “new HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 April 2007

HKAS 1 [{Amendment) Capital disclosures

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures

HK(IFRIC) = INT 7 Applying the restatement approach under HKAS 29
Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies

HK(IFRIC) = INT 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC) = INT @ Reassessment of embedded derivatives

HK(IFRIC) = INT 10 Interim financial reporting and impairment

HK(IFRIC) = INT 11 HKFRS 2: Group and freasury share transactions

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on how the results and financial position for the
current or prior accounting periods have been prepared. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment is
required.

The Group has applied the disclosure requirements under HKAS 1 (Amendment] and HKFRS 7 refrospectively.
Certain information presented in prior year under the requirements of HKAS 32 “Financial instruments:
Presentation” has been removed and the relevant comparative information based on the requirements of
HKAS 1 (Amendment] and HKFRS 7 has been presented for the first ime in the current year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards, amendments or inferpretations
that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial statements

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing cosfs

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate financial statements 2

HKAS 32 & HKAS 1 Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising
(Amendments) on liquidation '

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting conditions and cancellations !

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations 2

HKFRS 8 Operating segments '

HK(IFRIC) = INT 12 Service concession arrangements

HK(IFRIC) = INT 13 Customer loyalty programmes

HKI(IFRIC) = INT 14 HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined benefit asset,

minimum funding requirements and their interaction °

fective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.
July 2009.
January 2008.

July 2008.

fective for annual periods beginning on or affer

~Noow N —

fective for annual periods beginning on or affer

m rrm rm rm
—_ o

fective for annual periods beginning on or affer

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting treatment for business combination for which
the acquisition date is on or affer the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1
July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will offect the accounting treatment for changes in a parent's ownership
inferest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control, which will be accounted for as equity
fransactions. The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of other new or revised standards,
amendments or inferpretations will have no material impact on the results or financial position of the

Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except
for investment properties and certfain financial instruments, which are measured at fair values, as detailed
in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company [its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies info line with those used by other members of the Group.

Al intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interesfs in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group's
equity therein. Minority inferests in the net assefs consist of the amount of those inferests af the date of the
original business combination and the minority share of changes in equity since the date of the combination.
losses applicable fo the minority in excess of the minority interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except fo the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able
fo make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Discount on acquisition arising on acquisition of additional inferests in a subsidiary represents the excess of
the book value of the nef assets of the subsidiary atfributable to the additional inferest acquired over the
cost of acquisition of the additional interesfs.
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Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor an inferest in a joint venture.

The results and assefs and liabilities of associates are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in
the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for postacquisition changes in the Group’s share of net
assefs of the associates, less any identified impairment losses. When the Group's share of losses of an
associate equals or exceeds its inferest in the associate (which includes any longterm interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s nef investment in the associate], the Group discontinues recognising ifs
share of further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only fo the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that
associafe.

Joint ventures
Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate enfity in which venturers have joint
control over the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled entfifies.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in jointly
confrolled entities are carried in the consolidated balance sheet af cost as adjusted for postacquisition
changes in the Group's share of the nef assets of the jointly controlled entities, less any identified impairment
loss. When the Group's share of losses of a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest in that
jointly controlled entity (which includes any longterm interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
nef investment in the jointly confrolled entity), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
An additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and
sales relafed faxes.

When the outcome of software development services can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised on
the percenfage of completion method, measured by reference fo the proportion that cosfs incurred to dafe
bear to esfimated tofal costs for each contract. When the outcome of the fransaction involving the rendering
of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised
that are recoverable.

Sales of computer hardware and software are recognised when the goods are delivered and fitle has
passed.

Revenue from software maintenance services is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and af the effective inferest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial assets fo that asset's net carrying amount.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to eam rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent o initial recognition, invesiment properties are measured at their fair values using
the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investiment property are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset] is included in the income statement in the year in which the itfem is derecognised.

An owneroccupied property is transferred at its fair value to investment property when, and only when,
there is a change in use, by the end of owner occupation. The difference between the fair value and the
carrying amount at the date of fransfer is recognised as a revaluation increase or decrease in accordance
with HKAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment”.
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Leases

leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease fransfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership fo the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the income stafement on a siraight line basis over the
term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception
of the lease or, if lower, af the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a consfant rate of inferest
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a sfraight line basis over the period
of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter info an operating lease are
also spread on a sfraight line basis over the lease ferm.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress) are stated af cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of buildings is depreciated over the shorter of the relevant lease period or 20 years using the
straight line method.

Depreciation is provided fo write off the cost of other property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives and affer taking info account of their estimated residual value, using the straight line method, af
the rate of 18% to 20% per annum.

Assefs held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as
owned assefs or, where shorter, the period of the relevant lease.

The land and buildings elements of a lease of land and buildings are considered separately for the
purpose of lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease.

An ifem of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the confinued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the item) is included in the income statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when a group entity becomes
a party fo the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly affributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities af fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are mainly classified info one of the three categories, including financial
assefs at fair value through profit or loss ["FVTPL"), loans and receivables and availablefor-sale financial
assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on o
seflement date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the markefplace. The
accounting policies adopted in respect of each category of financial assefs are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective inferest rate is the rafe that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an infegral part of the
effective inferest rafe, fransaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assefs as
at FVTPL, of which inferest income is included in net gains or losses.
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Financial instruments (confinued)
Financial assets (confinued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL has two subcategories, including financial assets held for trading and those
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
® it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

® itisa part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages fogether and has
a recent actual pattem of shortterm profittaking; or

® it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging insfrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

®  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

e itforms part of a confract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement” permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to

be designated as at FVTPL.

At each balance sheef date subsequent fo initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured af fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The
nef gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or deferminable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash)
are carried af amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses [see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LID,



Notes to the Financial Statements (Coniinued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Financial instruments (confinued)
Financial assets (confinued)
Availablefor-sale financial assets

Availablefor-sale financial assefs are nonderivatives that are either designated or not classified as financial
assefs af fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held4o-maturity invesiments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent fo inifial recognition, availableforsale financial assets are measured
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss [see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet
date. Financial assefs are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred affer the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For an availablefor-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that
investment below its cost is considered fo be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

e default or delinquency in inferest or principal payments; or

* it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, that are assessed not fo be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the receivables past the credit period granted, observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the assef’s
carrying amount and the present value of the esfimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
inferest rafe.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Financial instruments (confinued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use
of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in
profit or loss. When a frade or other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assefs measured ot amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring affer the impairment losses
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset af the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity insfruments issued by a group entity are classified according fo the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contfract that evidences a residual interest in the assefs of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective inferest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts esfimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective inferest basis.
Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including accounts payable, obligations under a finance lease, bank loans and bank
overdraft are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective inferest method.

Equity instruments

Equity insfruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue cosfs.
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Financial instruments (confinued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee confract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debior fails to make payment when due in accordance
with the original or modified terms of a debt insfrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
and not designated as af fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair value less fransaction
costs that are directly atiributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent o initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount defermined
in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and confingent assets”; and (i) the amount
inifially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS
18 “Revenue”.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the
financial assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its fangible assets to defermine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated fo be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased fo the
revised esfimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees of the Company after 7 November 2002 and vested on or affer 1
January 2005

The fair value of services received defermined by reference fo the fair value of share options granted af the
grant date is recognised as an expense in full af the grant date when the share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share options
reserve will be fransferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited or are still not exercised
af the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated deficit.

Share options granted to employees of the Company on or before 7 November 2002, or granted affer 7/
November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the financial statfements unfil such time as
the options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the income sftatement in respect of the value of
options granted. Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded as share premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled
prior fo their exercise dafe are delefed from the register of outstanding options.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reporfed in the income stafement because it excludes ifems of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes income statement itfems that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assefs and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable tfemporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible tfemporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition [other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on invesiments in subsidiaries,/
associates/ jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the femporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
assef fo be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated af the tax rafes that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited fo profit or loss, except when it relates to
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the Company and each individual group entity, fransactions in
currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded in ifs functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are refranslated af the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-
monefary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are refranslated af the rates
prevailing on the dafe when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not refranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the sefflement of monetary items, and on translation of monefary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
refranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the refranslation of non-monetary itfems in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly in

equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assefs and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are franslated info the presentation currency of the Company (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses are franslated
at the average exchange rafes for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of fransactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (translation reserve). Such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to statemanaged refirement benefit schemes and the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are charged as expenses when employees have rendered service entfitling them fo contributions.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2008 2007 2008 200/
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000

Financial assets

FVTPL
Designated as af FVTPL 17,190 51,483 17,190 51,483
Investments held for trading 1,543 — 1,543

Lloans and receivables
(including cash and cash equivalents) 101,566 67,552 96,263 61,010

Availableforsale financial assets — 4,290 — 4,290
Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 1,578 1,332 35,428 36,006
Financial guarantee obligations 1,058 — - —

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's and the Company’s maijor financial instruments include equity-linked notes, availableforsale
financial assets, investments held for frading, frode and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, accounts payable, obligations under a finance lease and bank loans. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective nofes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mifigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures fo ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The
risks associated and the management policies remain unchanged from prior year.

Market risks
Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers fo the risk that movement in foreign currency exchange rate which will affect the
Group’s financial results and its cash flows. The management considers that the Group is not exposed fo
significant foreign currency risk as maijority of ifs fransactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the
functional currency of respective group entfities, and there were only insignificant balances of financial
assefs and liabilities denominated in foreign currency in the balance sheets. However, the management
monitors foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed fo fair value inferest rate risk in relation fo fixed-rate borrowings (see note 25).
However, the management considered that the risk is insignificant to the Group.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risks (continued)
Other price risk

The Group and the Company are exposed fo equity price risk through ifs investments in equity securities
and equitylinked notes. The management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risks. Other price risk of the Group and the Company is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of market price of equity securities listed in Hong Kong and equity-linked notes. In order to minimise the
risk, the Group had disposed of most of these investments held for trading before the yearend date.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks af the
reporting date from investments held for trading, available-forsale financial assets and equitylinked notes.

If the prices of the respective equity insfruments had been 10% higher/lower, loss for the years ended 31
March 2008 and 2007 would decrease/increase by HK$ 1,873,000 and HK$5,148,000, respectively,
investment revaluation reserve at 31 March 2007 would increase,/decrease by HK$429,000 as a result
of the changes in fair values of investments held for frading, availablefor-sale financial assets and equity-
linked notes.

The Group's and the Company’s sensitivity fo investments held for trading and equity-linked notes increased
during the year mainly due fo the growth of market price of equity securities listed in Hong Kong.

In management's opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent other price risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year. The Group and the Company have
acquired the investments held for trading during the year which resulted in an increase in the balance af
year end.

Credit risk

The Group's and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss fo the
Group and the Company due o failure fo discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the balance sheet. In addition,
the Group's maximum exposure fo credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due fo financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the amount of contingent liabilities in relation fo financial
guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in note 31. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group and the Company have delegated a team responsible for defermination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group and the Company review the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s and the Company’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (confinued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (confinued)
Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because maijority of the counterparties are banks with high credit-
rafings assigned by infernational creditrating agencies and state-owned banks with good reputation.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted

for almost 100% (2007 100%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2008.

The Group also has concentration of credit risk as 49% (2007: 43%) and 82% (2007: 93%) of the total
frade receivables were due from the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers, respectively,
as at 31 March 2008.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group and the Company monifor and maintain a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management fo finance the Group’s and the Company’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the ufilisation of
bank borrowing and ensures compliance with loan covenants. The Group and the Company rely on bank
borrowing as a significant source of liquidity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Coniinued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

4, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table defails the Group’s and the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liobilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

liquidlity and inferest risk tables

THE GROUP
Weighted
average Total Carrying
effective On  Lessthan More than undiscounted  amount at
interest rate demand 1year 1-5years 5years  cashflows  31.3.2008
% HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2008
Non-derivative
financial liabilities
Noninferest bearing N/A - 1,058 - - 1,058 1,058
Variable inferest
fate inslruments 525 116 - - - 116 116
Fixed inferest
fate insfruments 5311075 - 207 997 521 1,725 1,462
116 1,265 997 521 2,899 2,636
Weighted
averoge Totol Carrying
effective On less than Morehan  undiscounted amount ot
inferest rate demand I year -5 years 5 years coshflows ~~ 31.3.2007
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$'000
2007
Non-derivative

financial liabilities

Fixed inferest

fafe instruments 5251053 — 187 699 694 1,580 1,332
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS |(contfinued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (confinued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity and inferest risk tables (continued)

THE COMPANY

Weighted
average Total Carrying
effective On  Less than undiscounted  amount at
interest rate demand lyear 1-5years cashflows 31.3.2008
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2008
Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing N/A 35,126 - - 35,126 35,126
Variable inferest
rate instruments 5.25 116 - - 116 116
Fixed inferest
rate insfruments 7.5 - 50 176 226 186
35,242 50 176 35,468 35,428
Weighted
average Total Carrying
effective On Less than undiscounted amount at
inferest rafe demand 1 year cash flows 31.3.2007
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2007
Financial liabilities
Noninterest bearing N/A 35,955 — 35,955 35,955
Fixed interest
rate instruments 525 — 54 54 5]

35,955 54 36,009 36,000

Fair value
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are defermined as follows:

e the fair value of financial assets with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid
markefs are determined with reference fo quoted market bid prices; and

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analyses using prices or rates
from observable current market transactions as input.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assefs and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.




Notes to the Financial Statements (Coniinued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group's overall sfrategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which mainly includes the bank loan disclosed in
note 25 [nef of cash and cash equivalents] and equity atfributable to equity holders of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
Business segments

In prior years, the Group used business segment as primary segment information. As the Group's software
development operation became substantially the sole business segment, the Group changed to report
geographical segment by location of customers as primary segment information. The Company’s location
of customers is the same as the location of assets. The Group's customers are mainly located in Hong Kong
and Mainland China ["PRC"). These geographical markets are the basis on which the Group reports its
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primary segment information.

Geographical segments for the year are as follows:

Turnover Results
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$'000
Hong Kong 1,720 1,608 (11,764) (16,538)
PRC 1,200 1,049 (3,328) (4,858)
2,920 2,657 (15,092) (21,390¢)
Interest income from bank 1,591 3,095
Unallocated corporate expenses (2,407) (1,462)
Impairment loss recognised on investments
in a jointly controlled entity (1,058) —
Impairment loss recognised on advance
made to a jointly controlled entity - (1,226)
Discount on acquisition arising from
purchase of additional inferests in
a subsidiary 69 745
Finance cosfs (158) (77)
Fair value changes on
investment properties 711 167
Net gains on equitylinked notes 643 3,735
Net (losses) gains on availablefor-sale
financial assets (46) 1,406
Net losses on investments held for trading (267) —
Share of losses of associates — PRC (2,746) (520]
Loss for the year (18,760) (15,533)
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6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (continued)

Business segments (confinued)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
Assets
Segment assets
- Hong Kong
- PRC
Interests in associates - PRC
Interests in jointly controlled entities - PRC
Unallocated corporate assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
- Hong Kong
- PRC

Unallocated corporate liabilities

OTHER INFORMATION
Capital additions

- Hong Kong

- PRC

Depreciation
- Hong Kong
- PRC

Sharebased payments - Hong Kong

Impairment loss recognised on advance made
fo a jointly controlled entity = PRC

Impairment loss recognised on investments in
a jointly controlled entity — PRC

2008
HK$’000

4,489
5,343
3,323

125,542

138,697

2,624
2,530

2,636

7,790

354
485

839

709

637

1,346

725

1,058

2007
HK$'000

8,537
6,385
5,852

125,221

145,995

2,506
2,590

1,332

6,428

1,127
/38

1,865

3,774

1,226
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

7. FINANCE COSTS

Inferest on
— a finance lease
— bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years
— bank borrowings not wholly repayable within five years

8. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:
Directors’ remuneration (note )

Other staff's retirement benefits scheme contributions
Other sfaff's share-based payments

Other staff costs

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
— owned by the Group
— held under a finance lease

Auditor's remuneration

Impairment for accrued revenue

loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Operating lease renfals in respect of rented premises

and after crediting:

Bank interest income
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Property rental income before deduction of negligible outgoings
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2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
9 5

77 —

72 72

158 77
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
3,737 5,885
186 184
531 1,696
7,999 7,444
12,453 15,209
1,296 1,805
50 60
1,346 1,865
829 759

= 348

9 —

944 2,467
1,591 3,095
- 10

292 109




Notes to the Financial Statements (Coniinued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

9.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable fo each of the 11 (2007: 10) directors were as follows:

2008 2007
Retirement Refirement
Salaries  benefits Salories benefits
and other  scheme Share-based Total and other scheme  Sharebosed Totol
Fees  benefits contributions payments emoluments Fees benelis  confibuions ~ paymenls~ emoluments

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKE000  HKS000  HKS000

Executive directors
Cheng Kin Kwan - 1,356 - - 1,356 - 1,489 - 429 1918
low Kwai lom - 374 12 141 527 - 331 12 158 501
Leung Mei Sheung, Eliza - 447 12 - 459 - 494 12 429 935
Zheng Ying Yo - 142 - - 142 - 118 - 90 208
Fung Chun Pong, Louis - 366 12 53 a1 - 402 12 45 459
Lico Yun - 131 - - 131 - 118 - 90 208
Chung Yiu Fai [resigned on

28 Jonuary 2008 - 400 10 - 410 - 37 12 429 978
Independent non-executive directors
Ng Kwok Tung 90 - - - 90 90 - - 136 226
Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna 90 - - - 90 90 - - 136 226
Chon Mei Ying, Spencer 90 - - - 90 90 - - 136 226
Lee G. Lom [appointed on

15 February 2008) 1 - - - 1 - - - - -
Toil 281 3216 46 194 3,737 20 3,489 48 2078 5,885

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group fo the five highest paid individuals (including
directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. None of the directors has waived any emoluments during both years.

The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals included two (2007: three) executive
directors of the Company, whose emoluments are defailed above. The aggregate emoluments of the
remaining three (2007 two) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000

Basic salaries and allowances 1,239 879
Refirement benefits scheme contributions 36 24
Share-based payments 230 859

1,505 1,762

The emoluments of each of these highest paid individuals were all within HK$1,000,000.
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10. TAXATION

No provision for faxation has been made in the financial statements as the Group had no assessable profit
for the year.

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New Law”)
by Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC. On 6 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the New Law. A PRC subsidiary of the Company is accredited as a High
and New Tech Enferprise which was entitled to a reduced income tax rate of 15% up to 31 December
2007 . The New Law and Implementation Regulations will change the tax rate from 15% to 25% from 1
January 2008. The enactment of the New Law is not expected fo have any significant financial effect on
the amounts accrued in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of taxation payable and deferred
taxation as the PRC subsidiaries incurred tax loss during the year.

Taxation for the year is reconciled to loss for the year as follows:

11. LOSS PER SHARE
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2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000

loss for the year (18,760) (15,533)
Tax credit at the applicable income tax rate of 17.5%

(2007 17.5% (3,283) 2,718)
Tox effect of share of losses of associates 481 Q1
Tox effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 204 2,194
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (307) (478)
Tox effect of unrecognised tax losses 3,036 4,285
Tox effect of utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised - (2,388)
Effect of different tax rates for

subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (358) (1,086
Others 227 100
Taxation for the year —_ —
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the following data:

2008 2007
Loss for the year affributable to equity holders of

the Company for the purposes of

basic loss per share HK$(17,801,000) HK$(14,724,000)
Number of ordinary shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of basic loss per share 1,113,825,165 1,040,750,983

No diluted loss per share has been presented for both years as the assumed exercise of share options
granted by the Company would decrease the loss per share for the year.
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

THE GROUP
HK$’000

FAIR VALUE
At 1 April 2007 —
Additions during the year 1,933
Fair value change during the year 167
At 31 March 2007 2,100
Currency realignment 233
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 3,200
Fair value change during the year 711

At 31 March 2008 6,244

The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 31 March 2008 and 2007 and af the date of
fransfer have been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on those dates by LCH (Asia Pacific)
Surveyors Limited ("LCH"), independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. LCH
are members of the Insfitute of Valuers, and have appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant location. The valuations were arrived at by reference to
market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.

The Group's property inferests which are held under mediumerm land use rights are situated in the PRC
and are held under operating leases to eam rentals.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
landand  Computer and  Leasehold Motor Office
buildings  equipment fixtures improvements vehicles  equipment Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

THE GROUP
CosT
At 1 Apil 2006 04,507 17,270 1471 7767 284 10,575 101,874
Currency reclignment 98 207 26 o4 - 47 447
Additons 2,031 507 4 1,373 - 185 4,100
Disposal - (3,127] (357] [6,152] - [5,295] (14,891
At 31 March 2007 00,036 14,857 1,144 3,052 284 5,952 91,525
Currency realignment S 643 74 186 - 136 1,350
Adalfions - 617 - - - 222 839
Eliminated on fransfer fo

investment properties 2,257 - - - - - 2,257
Disposal /wite off (62,050] (62) 3) - - (331] (62,446
At 31 March 2008 2,840 16,055 1,215 3,238 284 5,579 29,211
DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 Apil 2006 62,22/ 16,051 1,400 7,583 174 10,181 97,586
Currency reclignment 7 184 24 5 - 36 308
Provided for the year 18] 79 38 650 58 142 1,865
Eliminoted on disposal - (3,127] (3511 [6,133] - [5,295] (14,860
At 31 March 2007 62,415 13,904 11T 2177 232 5,104 84,893
Currency reclignment 42 569 71 184 - 110 976
Provided for the year 27 483 5 460 52 100 1,346
Eliminated on fransfer fo

investment properties (118 — — — — — (118)
Eliminated on disposal/

wite off (62,050 62) (2] - - (296) 62,410
At 31 March 2008 526 14,894 1,185 2,71 284 5,027 24,687
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2008 2,314 1,161 30 467 - 552 4,524
At 31 March 2007 4,221 953 33 925 92 448 6,632
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Furniture
Computer and  Lleasehold Motor Office
equipment fixtures improvements vehicles  equipment Total

HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000

THE COMPANY

cosT

At T Apiil 2006 11,316 832 6,153 284 8,351 26,936

Additions 112 4 1,373 — 182 1,671

Disposal (2,900) (357 6,153] — (5,050) (14,466]
At 31 March 2007 8,522 479 1,373 284 3,483 14,141

Additions 134 — — — 220 354

Disposal (67] 2) — — (331] (394)
At 31 March 2008 8,595 477 1,373 284 3,372 14,101

DEPRECIATION

At T Apiil 2006 10,669 808 6,110 176 8,213 25976

Provided for the year 47?2 17 481 56 100 1,126

Eliminated on disposal (2,905) (351 6,133] — (5,050 (14,439]
At 31 March 2007 8,236 474 458 232 3,263 12,663

Provided for the year 104 2 457 52 04 709

Eliminated on disposal [61] 2] — — (297 [360)
At 31 March 2008 8,279 474 915 284 3,060 13,012

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 March 2008 316 3 458 - 312 1,089

At 31 March 2007 286 5 915 52 220 1,478

At 31 March 2008, the carrying value of the Group's property interests comprised buildings erected on
land held under medium-term land use rights in the PRC of HK$2,314,000 (2007: HK$4,221,000).

Also, at 31 March 2008, the Group had pledged a building with a carrying value of HK$2,314,000
(2007: HK$2,226,000] to a bank to secure the credit facilities granted to the Group.

At 31 March 2008, the carrying value of the Group's and the Company's office equipment held under a
finance lease was HK$ 184,000 (2007: HK$60,000).

During the vear, the Group renfed out certain of ifs land and buildings fo outsiders for rental income and
transferred those properties to investment properties carried at fair value. The difference between the
carrying amount of the properties of HK$2,139,000 and their fair value of HK$3,200,000 at the date

of transfer has been credited directly to property revaluation reserve.
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

THE COMPANY

2008 & 2007

HK$'000

Unlisted investments, at cost 21,310
less: Impairment loss recognised (13,310)
8,000

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2008 are sef out in note 35.

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
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THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
Unlisted investments, at cost 94,686 94,686 94,686 94,686
Share of postacquisition reserves (91,363) (88,834 - —
less: Impairment loss recognised - —  (91,363) (88,834

3,323 5,852 3,323 5,852

The principal investment in associate at 31 March 2008 and 2007 represents the Company's 25% equity
interest in B B 2 B 15 B H M1 k19 B R 2 7 (Ningxia Educational Information & Technology Co.,
ltd.) ("NEITC"), a sinoforeign joint stock limited company established in the PRC and engaged in the
development of education informatisation programmes in Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region of the PRC.

In the opinion of the directors, the above associate principally affected the results of the year or form a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's associates is sef out below:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000

Total assets 22,809 25,124
Total liabilities (9,530) (1,745)
Net assets 13,279 23,379
Group's share of nef assets of associates 3,323 5,852
Revenue 6,716 24,792
Loss for the year (10,970) (1,225)
Loss for the year affributable to the Group (2,746) (520)
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

16. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Unlisted capital contributions
Share of postacquisition losses
less: Impairment loss recognised
Loan to a jointly controlled entity
Amount due from a jointly controlled entity
less: Allowance on advance made to
a jointly controlled entity

THE
THE GROUP COMPANY
2008 2007 2008 & 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
30,673 29,615 29,615
(29,615) (29,615) —
(1,058) — (29,615)
568 568 568

658 658 658
(1,226) (1,226) (1,226)

The principal investment in jointly controlled entifies at 31 March 2008 and 2007 represents the Company's
28.5% interest in TR/ 5 77 B4 B 3R A R 2 7 (Zhuhai Southemn Software Park Development Company
limited| ("ZSSP"), a sinoforeign joint venture established in the PRC and engaged in the development and
operation of a software park for a term of 30 years commencing November 2000.

In the opinion of the direcfors, the above jointly controlled entity principally affected the results of the year

or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give defails of other jointly controlled entities

would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s share of jointly confrolled entities which

were accounted for using the equity method is sef out below:

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Income

Expenses

2008

HK$’000
65,437
24,080

(24,322)
(76,117)
20,331

(27,341)

2007
HK$'000

80,293
3,082
(19,038)
(70,871)
7,679

(11,415)
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16. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES (confinued)

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses of certain jointly controlled entities. The
amounts of unrecognised share of those jointly controlled entities, both for the year and cumulatively, are as

follows:
THE GROUP
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
Unrecognised share of losses of
jointly controlled entities for the year (7,010) (3,736)
Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of
jointly controlled entities (12,944) (5,934)
17. EQUITY-LINKED NOTES
The equity-linked notes are analysed for reporting purposes as:
THE GROUP
AND THE COMPANY
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
Non-current asset 5,698 51,483
Current asset 11,492 —
17,190 51,483

Equity-linked notes are designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon the inifial
recognition as they contain embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined contract fo
be designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Major terms of the equity-linked notes at 31 March
2008 are as follows:

Principal amount Maturity
HK$20,000,000 2008
HK$ 12,000,000 2010

The equity-linked notes are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the obligation of interest accrual on a
daily basis is af a predetermined equation. The equity-linked notes are subject to mandatory redemption af
various intervals until maturity dates. The manner in which it is seftled af mandatory termination or redemption
at maturity are linked fo the performance of an individual or a basket of Hong Kong listed equity securities
by comparing the market prices with the pre-defermined prices of these equity securities. Accrued inferest
is paid on a bi-monthly basis. The notes may be mandatory terminated in full amount of the principal
amount for cash or, redeemed at maturity either in full amount of the principal amount for cash or equity
securities at a pre-determined price in round lots and residue in cash, which may be lower than the
principal amount.

The equity-linked notes are measured af fair value at the balance sheet date. Their fair values of
HK$17,190,000 as at 31 March 2008 (31 March 2007: HK$51,483,000) are determined based on
the valuation provided by the bank at that date.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000

Trade receivables 258 204 258 204
Monies placed with a financial
insfitution for share subscription

in an inifial public offering - 3,909 - 3,909
Accrued revenue 971 316 193 205
Other receivables 4,079 3,861 2,837 2,687

5,308 8,290 3,288 7,005

Payment terms with customers are mainly on credit fogether with deposits. Invoices are normally payable
within 30 days of issuance, except for certain well established customers. The following is an aged
analysis of frade receivables af the balance sheet date:

THE GROUP

AND THE COMPANY
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000

Age
0 to 30 days 224 89
31 1o 60 days - 115
61 to Q0 days 13 —
91 to 120 days 21 —

258 204

The trade and other receivables are unsecured, interest free and expected to be sefiled within one year.

The management closely monitors the credit quality of trade and other receivables and considers the trade
and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit quality. Included in the
Group’s and Company's trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$34,000 (2007: HK$115,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss. The Group and the Company do not hold any collateral over these balances.
There are no balances included in other receivables which have been past due.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (confinued)

Age of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

THE GROUP
AND THE COMPANY
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
31 to 60 days -_ 115
61 to 90 days 13 —
91 to 120 days 21 —
34 115

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

At 31 March 2007, the availableforsale financial assets represented Hong Kong listed equity securities
which were stated af fair value by reference to quoted market bid prices.

20. INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING

At 31 March 2008, the investments held for frading of HK$ 1,543,000 (2007 nil) represent Hong Kong
listed equity securities. The fair value of these investments is determined based on the quoted market bid
prices of securities available on the market.

21. OTHER ASSETS
Pledged bank deposits

The balance represents deposits pledged to banks to secure the shortterm credit faciliies granted to the
Group, the Company and a jointly controlled entity of the Company.

The deposits carry inferest af the rates ranging between 1.1% and 4.55% (2007 between 2.25% and
4.37%) per annum and will be released upon repayment of the secured bank loan.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and the Company and shorterm bank deposits
which carry interest at the rafes ranging between 1.2% and 4.97% (2007 between 3.24% and 4.95%)
per annum with an original maturity of three months or less.

22. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Customers’ deposits received 1,937 2,146 326 506
Other payables 3,217 2,950 2,007 1,660
5,154 5,096 2,333 2,166
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23. OBLIGATIONS UNDER A FINANCE LEASE

Amount payable under a finance lease:
Within one year

Between one fo two years

Between two to five years

less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease obligations

less: Amount due within one year
shown under current liabilities

Amount due affer one year

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

Minimum

lease payments

Present value
of minimum
lease payments

2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$'000
50 54 36 51
50 — 39 —
126 — 11 —
226 54 186 51
(40) (3] — —
186 51 186 51
(36) (51)
150 —

The Group’s obligations under a finance lease were secured by the lessor's charge over the leased assets.
The effective borrowing rate was 7.5% (2007: 5.25%) per annum. Interest rate was fixed af the confract
date and no arrangement have been entered info for confingent rental payment.

24. AMOUNTS DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES

THE COMPANY

The amounts are unsecured, inferestHree and are repayable on demand.
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25. BANK LOAN

The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate borrowing and the contractual maturity dates (or repricing dates| are

as follows:

THE GROUP
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
Secured fixed-rate borrowings:

Within one year 157 133
More than one year but not more than two years 165 141
More than two years but not more than three years 174 149
More than three years but not more than four years 184 157
More than four years but not more than five years 194 165
More than five years 402 536
1,276 1,281
less: Amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (157) (133)
Amount due affer one year 1,119 1,148

At 31 March 2008 and 2007, the bank loan is secured by a building of the Group in the PRC, carrying

fixed interest at 5.31% per annum and repayable in monthly instalments commencing from 15 March

2000 fo 15 March 2015.

At 31 March 2008, the Group had available HK$5 million (2007: HK$5 million) of undrawn credit

facilities.

26. SHARE CAPITAL

64

Number of
ordinary shares Amount
HK$'000
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each
—at 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008 2,500,000,000 125,000
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each
—at 1 April 2006 1,031,481,503 51,574
— exercise of share opfions 22,370,000 1,119
—at 31 March 2007 1,053,851,503 52,693
— exercise of share opfions 79,410,000 3,970
- at 31 March 2008 1,133,261,503 56,663
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Details of share options exercised during the year are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2008

Number of share Subscription
options exercised price per share
HKS$

11,650,000 0.0722
47,930,000 0.0772
3,900,000 0.0870
2,200,000 0.0900
3,600,000 0.0920
4,480,000 0.0982
3,000,000 0.1038
1,050,000 0.1530
1,300,000 0.1900
300,000 0.2550

79,410,000

Year ended 31 March 2007

Number of share Subscription
options exercised price per share
HK$

5,950,000 0.0722
14,470,000 0.0772
400,000 0.0870
300,000 0.0900
450,000 0.0982
800,000 0.1530

22,370,000

As a result, an aggregate of 79,410,000 (2007: 22,370,000) new ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each

in the Company were issued.

All the shares issued during both years rank pari passu with the then existing shares in all respects.
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27. SHARE OPTIONS

(a) 2000 share option scheme

66

Pursuant fo the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 21 November 2000 (the “2000
share opfion scheme”), the Company may grant options at HK$ 1 per offer to any fulliime employees
including executive directors of the Company or ifs subsidiaries, for the primary purpose of providing
incentives fo them, fo subscribe for shares in the Company. The exercise price of the share option will
be determined at the highest of the average of closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange on
the five frading days immediately preceding the date of grant of the options; the closing price of the
shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; and the nominal value of the shares.

Details of the movements in the number of share options during the year ended 31 March 2007
under the 2000 share option scheme are as follows:

Number of share options
Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Type of Date price at during at
participants of grant  Exercisable period per share  1.4.2006 the year  31.3.2007
HK$
Directors 2242002 22.4.2003-21.4.2006 0455 1,450,000  (1,450,000] -
Employees 22.4.2002  22.4.2003 - 21.4.2006 0455 1,500,000 (1,500,000 -

2,950,000 (2,950,000 —

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the Company's extraordinary general meeting held on
28 April 2003, the Company terminated the operation of the 2000 share option scheme (such that
no further options could thereafter be offered under the 2000 share option scheme but outstanding
options granted under the 2000 share option scheme shall remain effective subject to the relevant
provisions of the 2000 share option scheme] and approved and adopted a new share option
scheme [the “2003 share option scheme”). There were no share options outstanding under the

2000 share option scheme at 31 March 2007 and 2008.
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27. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b) 2003 share option scheme

The options of the 2003 new share option scheme may be granted to any director, employee,
consultant, customer, supplier, agent, partner, provider of financial assistance, shareholder or adviser
of or contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of
such company (“Eligible Participants”), the frustee of the Eligible Participants or a company beneficially
owned by the Eligible Participants. The purpose of the 2003 share option scheme is fo recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible Participants had made or may make to the
Group. At 31 March 2008, the total number of shares available for issue under the 2003 share
option scheme is 267,252,150 shares, representing 23.58% of the issued share capital of the
Company at that date. The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2003 share option scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may be granted to any Eligible Participants which
if exercised in full would result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the share options already granted to such Eligible Participants in the 12-month period up to and
including the dafe of such new grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant unless approval is obtained from the shareholders of the Company. The exercisable
period is defermined by the board of directors in its absolute discretion, save that such period shall
not be more than ten years from the dafe of grant. There is no generally applicable minimum period
for which the options must be held before it can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be accepted when the Company receives in writing the
acceptance of the offer from the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant thereof. The option shall remain open for acceptance by
the Eligible Participants concemed for a period of 28 days from the date of offer. The exercise price
shall be determined by the board of directors at the time of grant of the relevant option and notified
fo each grantee and shall not be less than the highest of:

(i the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheef on the date
of grant of the relevant option, which must be a business day;

(il an amount equivalent fo the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option; and

(i) the nominal value of a share.

The 2003 share option scheme is valid for a period of fen years commencing on the adoption date

of 28 April 2003.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Coniinued)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2008

27. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c) Share-based payment transactions

During the year ended 31 March 2008, options were granted on 18 June 2007 . The estimated fair
value of the options granted on that date was HK$0. 1768 per option. During the year ended 31
March 2007, options were granted on 26 September 2006. The estimated fair value of the options

granted on that date was HK$0.0452 per option.

The Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model (the “Model’) to value the share options

granted during both years. The Model is one of the commonly used models to estimate the fair value

of share options. The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Any change in the variables so adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an

option.

Details of the fair values of share options determined af the respective dates of grant using the Model

with the inputs are as follows:

Closing share price
Exercise price

Expected volatility
Expected life

Risk-free rate

Expected dividend yield

18 June 26 September

2007

HK$0.2950
HK$0.2980

91.89%
3 years
4.472%

0%

2006

HK$0.0770
HK$0.0772
82.23%

5 years
3.67%

0%

Expected volatility was defermined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over

the previous year. The expected life used in the Model has been adjusted, based on the management's

best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$725,000 for the year ended 31 March 2008
(2007: HK$3,774,000) in relation fo share options granted by the Company.

TIMELESS SOFTWARE LTD.
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28. RESERVES
Share Investment

Share options revaluation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve deficit Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THE COMPANY
At 1 April 2006 631,122 1,770 — (577,356) 55,536

Fair value change in available-
forsale financial assets and

recognised directly in equity — — (578) — (578)
Loss for the year — — — (13,837] (13,837]
Total recognised expenses

for the year — — (578) (13,837] (14,415)
Issue of shares 656 — — — 656

Expenses incurred in connection
with the issue of shares (11) — — — (1)
Transfer of share options reserve

on exercise of share options 751 [751) — — —
Recognifion of equity-setiled

share-based payments — 3,774 — — 3,774

1,396 3,023 — — 4,419

At 31 March 2007 632,518 4,793 (578) (591,193) 45,540

Loss for the year — — — (15,901) (15,901)

Transfer fo profit or loss on sale
of availablefor-sale financial assets — — 578 — 578

Total recognised income and

expenses for the year — — 578 (15,901] (15,323]
Issue of shares 2,675 — — — 2,675
Expenses incurred in connection

with the issue of shares (61) — — — [61)
Transfer of share options reserve

on exercise of share options 2,795 (2,795] — — —
Transfer of share options reserve

on forfeiture of share options — (156] — 156 —
Recognition of equity-seffled

share-based payments — 725 — — 725

5,409 (2,226) — 156 3,339
At 31 March 2008 637,927 2,567 - (606,938) 33,556

At the balance sheet date, the Company had no reserves available for distribution to shareholders.
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company has unutilised tax losses of approximately HK$310
million (2007: HK$290 million) and HK$ 186 million (2007: HK$ 173 million) respectively, available to
sef off against future assessable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unutilised tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit siream. These tax losses of the Group may be
carried forward indefinitely except an amount of approximately HK$26 million (2007: HK$ 16 million)
which may be carried forward for a maximum of five years. The tax losses of the Company may be carried
forward indefinitely.

30. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group and the Company as lessee

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company were committed to make the following future
minimum lease payments in respect of rented premises under non-cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Within one year 698 864 546 569
In the second fo fifth year inclusive -_ 582 -_ 546
698 1,446 546 1,115

leases are negotiated for terms up fo one year (2007: two years). During the year ended 31 March
2008, an operating lease was early terminated without compensation.

The Group as lessor

At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease
payments in respect of investment properties:

THE GROUP
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
Within one year 284 187
In the second to fifth year inclusive 487 130
Vid 317

The properties held have committed fenants for the next two years.
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantees given

At 31 March 2008, the Group has given guarantee of RMB4.9 million (2007: RMB4.9 million) fo a bank
fo secure the credit facilities granted fo ZSSP. At 31 March 2008, the amount of facilities utilised by ZSSP
amounted to RMB4.9 million {2007 RMB4.9 million). The fair value of the financial guarantee contract ot
the date of grant of HK$ 1,058,000 representing a deemed capital contribution to the jointly controlled
entity during the year ended 31 March 2008, has been adjusted to the carrying amount of interests in
jointly controlled entities and recognised as a financial guarantee obligation.

At 31 March 2008, the Company has given corporate guarantees of HK$5 million (2007: HK$5 million)
fo certain banks fo secure the credit facilities granted fo its subsidiaries. No subsidiaries has utilised the
credit faciliies af the balance sheet date.

Pending litigation

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Company initiated legal proceedings against a third party
(the "Landlord”) in respect of an alleged breach of the fenancy agreement in failing fo refund the deposit
of HK$1,790,000. Concurrently, the Landlord resisted the claim and counterclaimed against the Company
on, including but not limited to, reinstatement work and rental losses. The Company, having taken info
consideration the underlying factors including advice obtained, did not see any grounds for withholding
the deposit and, accordingly, the directors of the Company fook the view that no confingency arises for
which a provision is required to be made nor no allowance is required to be made to the deposit included

in the financial statements as at 31 March 2008 and 2007 .

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the Scheme up to a limit of
HK$ 1,000, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are members of the statemanaged refirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
cerfain percentage of their payroll fo the refirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligations
of the Group with respect fo the refirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of balances with related parties are set out in note 24 and guarantees given by the Group fo
secure the credit facilities granted to ZSSP are sef out in note 31.

The key management personnel are the directors of the Company. The details of the remuneration paid to
them are sef out in nofe 9.

34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

[a)  Details of the deemed capifal contribution fo a jointly controlled entity during the year ended 31
March 2008 arising from the financial guarantee given by the Group are set out in nofe 31.

(b)  During the year, the Group entered info a finance lease arrangement in respect of property, plant
and equipment with a total capital value at inception of the lease of HK$204,000 (2007 nil).
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35. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of which, excluding those explained below, are limited
liability companies, at 31 March 2008 are as follows:

Attributable
proportion
Place of Nominal value of nominal value
incorporation/  of issued and fully of issued capital/
establishment/  paid share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary ~ operations registered capital ~ held by the Company  Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Three Principles Compuer ~ Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100% — Provision of compter
Senice Co. Limited consultancy services,
('Three Principles'| and development and

sales of computer software

KESLFEE (XR) PRC RMB2,000,000 - 100%  Design, development and
ARAF for a ferm of 12 years maintenance of compuler
('Timeless Beijing'] commencing software and sysfems os

July 2000 well as provision of
computer consuliancy
services

BNTHEEEESE  MRC RMB16,000,000 - 100%  Provision of computer
EXERAA for a term of 30 years consultancy services
(Talent Valley Company ~ commencing
Limited| November 2004

Timeless Beijing is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC. Talent Valley Company
limited is a sinoforeign co-operative joint venture company established in the PRC and its equity interests
were owned as to 87.5% by the Company indirectly at 31 March 2007. During the year ended 31
March 2008, the Company has acquired the remaining 12.5% equity interest in Talent Valley Company
Limited which was changed to a wholly foreign owned enterprise. The equity inferess in Three Principles
and Timeless Beijing remained unchanged during the year.

At 31 March 2007, X &4+ (E M) AR 2 7 ("Timeless Guangzhou”), whose equity interests
were owned as to 100% by the Company indirectly, was a sinoforeign co-operative joint venture company
established in the PRC with issued and fully paid share capital of RMB10,000,000. During the year
ended 31 March 2008, Timeless Guangzhou is under liquidation upon expiry of the operation period
stated in the registration documents. The liquidation process has not yet been completed at the date of this
report.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding af the end of the year, or at any time during
the year.
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Year ended 31 March
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

RESULTS
Turnover 9,357 3,441 3,638 2,657 2,920
(Loss| profit before taxation (42,090) (82,4906) 2,144 (15,533) (18,760)
Toxation 3,995 — — — —_
(Loss) profit for the year (38,095 (82,496) 2,144 (15,533) (18,760)
Attributable to:
Equity holders
of the Company (38,089 (82,478) 2,355 (14,724)  (17,801)
Minority inferests (6) (18) (2171) (809) (959)
(38,095) (82,4906) 2,144 (15533] (18,760)
At 31 March
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Tofal assets 257,270 190,257 159,525 145,995 138,697
Tofal liabilities (45,236) (45,530) (6,659) (6,428) (7,790)

212,034 144,727 152,866 139,567 130,907

Attributable to:
Equity holders
of the Company 209,674 137,240 146,101 136,319 128,351
Minority inferests 2,360 6,787 6,765 3,248 2,556

212,034 144,727 152,866 139,567 130,907
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